FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/22/2019 10:39 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 77684-3-I

Supreme Court No. 96874-8

## IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANDREW LEE BENJAMIN, SUCCESSOR ADMINISTRATOR OF THE ESTATE OF LUE ALICE GREEN,

Appellant,

٧.

DALYNNE SINGLETON and JOHN DOE SINGLETON, her husband, and the marital community comprised thereof, and LAW OFFICE OF B. CRAIG GOURLEY, PLLC, a Washington Professional Limited Liability Company, d/b/a GOURLEY LAW GROUP,

Respondents.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Andrew Lee Benjamin, as Successor

Administrator of the Estate of Lou Alice Green, appellant in the Court of

Appeals, and the plaintiff in the King County Superior Court proceeding.

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner Andrew Benjamin seeks review of the unpublished decision: Andrew Lee Benjamin, Appellant v. Dalynne Singleton, et al., Respondents, Case #77684-3-I, filed January 28, 2019 by Division I of the Court of Appeals. Petitioner will be referenced as successor personal representative. A copy of that decision is attached hereto as Appendix A.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Where, as in this case, a successor personal representative sues a negligent attorney for the probate estate in a probate proceeding, is the rationale of *Estate of Treadwell ex rel. Neil v. Wright*, 115 Wash.App. 238, 61 P.3d 1214 (2003) and *In re the Guardianship of Karan*, 110 Wn.App. 76, 38 P.3d 396 (2002) equally applicable to probate attorneys?
- 2. Should Washington follow the majority decisions of other sister states which hold that negligent attorneys for personal representatives should not be shielded from liability for their negligence simply because they are being sued by the successor personal representative?

- 3. Should Washington, in accordance with other sister states, hold that successor personal representatives have standing to sue negligent attorneys pursuant to CR 17(a)?
- 4. Should this Court, which has exclusive control over the practice of law, enunciate a ruling consistent with *Treadwell* and *Karan* that does not insulate probate lawyers from liability for their negligence?
- 5. When the state of Washington experiences over 50,000 deaths per year and a growing number of probates and probate administrations which far exceeds guardianship filings, does the protection of the public auger for a ruling in probate administration consistent with that in guardianships resulting from *Treadwell* and *Karan*?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Factual Background

This is a complaint (Clerk's Papers "CP" 1-8) for legal malpractice and breach of fiduciary duty brought by the court appointed Successor administrator of the decedent. CP 1, ¶1.0. The decedent died intestate in King County, Washington on April 20, 2005. CP 2, ¶ 2.0. The decedent had nine children, eight of whom survived her. CP 2, ¶ 2.0. The major asset of the Estate was a home at 1425 East Union Street, Seattle, Washington 98122. CP 2, ¶ 2.1. There was a conflict between the court appointed Administrator and son of the decedent, Mr. Leonardo Monk,

and his siblings. CP 3, ¶ 2.3. A probate was filed in the King County Superior Court on June 16, 2016 for the decedent under King County Superior Court cause number 16-4-03707-8. CP 3, ¶¶ 2.4-2.5.

On August 2, 2016, the defendant attorney appeared as counsel for the Administrator Leonardo Monk and filed a petition for order authorizing and approving the sale of the primary asset, the real property on East Union Street. CP 3, ¶ 2.6. Defendant attorney knew, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, that one of daughters of the decedent, Ms. Arnita Green, was disabled and living in an assisted living facility. CP 3, ¶ 2.7; 54-57. The defendant attorney failed to seek appointment of a guardian ad litem for the disabled beneficiary. CP 3, ¶2.7. The defendant attorney negligently and contrary to the minimum standard of care and RCW 11.28.185 failed to have either a bond required for the Administrator whom she represented and/or to have the proceeds from the sale of the primary asset of the Estate be deposited into an interest-bearing trust account or other blocked account. CP 3, ¶ 2.8. Defendant lawyer's law firm's escrow subsidiary was the escrow agent for the sale of the East Union property. CP 4,  $\P$  2.10.

The East Union property sold on November 10, 2016. The net proceeds of \$501,651.99 were placed into a Wells Fargo bank account over which the defendant attorney's client Administrator Leonardo Monk

had total unfettered control. CP 4, ¶ 2.9. As a result of the defendant attorney's negligence, the Administrator within five days of the closing of the sale commenced using the proceeds for his personal expenses. CP 4, ¶ 2.11. The probate court entered an order on November 22, 2016, which was specific as to the manner of disbursement of the sale proceeds. CP 4, ¶ 2.12. The Personal Representative, as a result of the defendant attorney's negligence, was able to misappropriate and steal the Estate monies and failed to distribute them in accordance with the order of November 22, 2016. CP 4, ¶ 2.12.

On December 16, 2016, the King County Superior Court issued Orders that: removed the Administrator; approved the immediate withdrawal of defendant attorney effective the previous day; appointed the Appellant, an attorney, as Successor Administrator for the Estate from which the funds have been stolen. CP 1-5. The Successor Administrator obtained a judgment against the former Administrator on March 22, 2017 in the amount of \$110,413.90 with interest thereon at 12% per annum. CP 4, ¶2.14. The judgment debtor/former Administrator is under criminal investigation and the judgment is uncollectible. CP 4, 2.14 – CP 5, ¶ 2.15. On February 1, 2017, the Honorable Ken Schubert, King County Superior Court Judge, entered an Order directing the Successor Administrator, the Appellant herein, inter alia, to do the following: to suspend payment of a

prior estate obligation to the defendant attorney; inform the defendant attorney that the court has canceled the order; and for the Successor Administrator to:

Investigate, and give notice of a potential claim, and retain counsel regarding a professional liability claim on behalf of the Estate and its beneficiaries against [defendant attorney] for failing to make banking arrangements that would protect the estate and its beneficiaries from improper withdrawals....

CP 5, ¶ 2.16; CP 84-85, ¶ 4. The foregoing order also retained jurisdiction before Judge Schubert. CP 85, ¶ 8.¹ The Successor Administrator, fulfilling Judge Schubert's order, filed a complaint for legal malpractice and breach of fiduciary duty on September 17, 2017 against the defendant attorney and her law firm.

#### B. Procedural Background

1. The Superior Court's Summary Judgment Ruling.

The defendants on October 3, 2017 filed a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss positing the issue:

Whether under Washington law a Successor Administrator, who was never the client of an attorney, has standing to sue an attorney of a former administrator for malpractice and breach of a fiduciary duty, based on the former administrator's intentional actions in contravention of a Court order.

CP 19, § IV.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Retained jurisdiction was released on December 28, 2018.

The Successor Administrator responded (CP 32-39) and proffered the Declaration of the Successor Administrator, attorney Andrew Lee Benjamin (CP 40-50). The Declaration of the appointed probate guardian ad litem, attorney Janet L. Smith, attorney for the disabled beneficiary Arnita Green, was also offered (CP 51-70).

The court heard oral argument on October 31, 2017. Report of Proceedings "RP" 1-19. The court chose to "...disregard those declarations [Andrew Lee Benjamin and Janet L. Smith], and as I said, I have not read them." RP 4, ln 11-14. The court asked counsel for the parties if she should talk to Judge Schubert concerning his earlier order. RP 15-17. Successor Administrator's counsel "welcom[ed] this Court's discussing the matter with Judge Schubert." RP 15, ln 19-21. Defense counsel rejected the court's proposal. RP 16, ln 3-7. The court stated in part "...I will not talk to Judge Schubert. You know, this is one of those things where I wanted to get your input on that, and I'm going to read the two unpublished opinions because I didn't know about those before today, and I'll issue a letter ruling, okay?" RP 17, ln 10-15.

The court did not issue a letter ruling, but on November 2, 2017 granted Defendants' CR 12(b)(6) motion noting that the court did not consider the attached declarations, which were stricken. CP 87, ln 22.

From that order of November 2, 2017, the Plaintiff/Successor Administrator has timely appealed.

#### 2. The Court of Appeals Decision.

On January 28, 2019, Division I handed down its unpublished decision, which is attached as Appendix A. Division I, relying on *Trask v. Butler*, 123 Wn.2d 835, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994) and distinguishing *Estate of Treadwell ex rel. Neil v. Wright* and *In re the Guardianship of Karan* held that the trial court's grant of summary judgment holding, inter alia, to allow this lawsuit to proceed "...would create the risk of interfering with her duty of undivided loyalty to [the miscreant personal representative]." Court of Appeals Decision, p.7.

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. Summary of Argument

Attorneys representing guardians who are negligent resulting in harm to wards are not shielded from liability when they are negligent under the saliatory rulings of *Treadwell* and *Karan*. The exact same ruling and ratio decidendi should apply to attorneys who are negligent in the representation of personal representatives in probate proceedings. As a matter of public policy it is improper to create a carve-out for probate attorneys who are negligent in the course of their representation of personal representatives. Where, as here, probate attorneys' sole duty is to

their client, the personal representative, and their negligence has allowed the personal representative to loot the probate estate; it is simply wrong under the ambit of *Trask* to shield those negligent attorneys from liability. Where, as here, suit is brought solely in the name of the successor personal representative CR 17(a) gives the successor personal representative standing to bring such a claim. *Trask* to the contrary notwithstanding.

This Court's sole and exclusive oversight over the conduct of lawyers should follow the decisions of the majority of other jurisdictions that recognize that *Trask* should not be an impediment from doing justice by insulating negligent probate attorneys from liability. Moreover, because of the greater numerosity of probate proceedings versus those in guardianships, this Court's following the ratio decidendi of *Treadwell* and *Karan*, which only this Court can do, is a matter of high importance.

For all of the above reasons, this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (4) and follow the appropriate and saliatory reasoning of *Treadwell* and *Karan* and harmonize Washington law with the decisions of other states ruling on this precise issue that does not insulate probate lawyers from liability for their negligence.

#### B. Argument and Citation of Authority

1. The Ratio Decidendi of *Trask* and *Treadwell* Should Be Equally Applicable to Negligent Probate Attorneys.

In 2002, in *In re the Guardianship of Karan*, 110 Wn.App. 76, 38 P.3d 396, Division III of the Court of Appeals doing a *Trask* analysis as to the issue of standing held that a guardianship attorney owed a duty to the ward. It was alleged that the negligence of the guardianship attorney in not requiring a bond nor a blocked account allowed the ward's mother, the guardian, to loot the funds. The lawyer owed a duty to the ward or child and thereby allowed standing for the child to bring an action for malpractice. The reasoning and rationale a year later in *Estate of Treadwell ex rel. Neil v. Wright*, 115 Wash.App. 238, 61 P.3d 1214 (2003) likewise upheld standing against the guardian's attorney.

The case at bar, which was dismissed because of lack of standing, pursuant to a defense CR 12(b) motion, is no different from the facts and circumstances of *Treadwell* and *Karan*. Under the verities of Plaintiff's Complaint, the Defendant attorney's conduct was instrumental in allowing the personal representative to disobey a court order and steal money from the unblocked account which was in the personal representative's name only. There is no logical discernable difference in what the Defendant attorney did in the case at bar and the conduct of the attorneys for which standing was found in *Treadwell* and *Karan*.

The proximity of the attorney-client relationship and resultant fiduciary duty is direct between the negligent attorney and the personal representative as contrasted with the attorney-client relationship between the guardianship attorney and the guardian and the beneficiary ward. It is to be noted that the case at bar is brought solely and exclusively by the successor personal representative who stands in the shoes of the predecessor personal representative and their duties are precisely the same. RCW 11.48.010 states, in relevant part:

It shall be the duty of every personal representative to settle the estate,...The personal representative shall be authorized in his or her own name to maintain and prosecute such actions as pertain to the management and settlement of the estate, and may institute suit to collect any debts due the estate or to recover any property, real or personal, or for trespass of any kind or character.

2. The Majority of Other States Addressing Standing of
Successor Personal Representatives for Legal Malpractice
Actions Have Found Standing.

The personal representative's research has disclosed a number, believe to be the majority, of sister states that have addressed this issue and found standing.

In *Borissoff v. Taylor & Faust, et al.*, 33 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 523, 15 Cal.Rptr.3d 735, 93 P.3d 337 (2004), the issue was framed by the California Supreme Court thusly:

This case raises the question whether the successor fiduciary of an estate in probate may assert a professional negligence claim against attorneys retained by a predecessor fiduciary to provide tax assistance for the benefit of the estate. We hold the successor fiduciary may do so.

Borissoff, supra, 338.

Indeed, *Borissoff* addressed this Court's holding in *Trask* at p.535 yet held that even though California law recognizes that the attorney owes the beneficiaries no duty of care that there was indeed standing.

Borissoff also stated most pointedly as it relates to the case at bar "Indeed, the successor fiduciary must have standing to sue the predecessor's attorney if there is to be an effective remedy for legal malpractice that harms estates and trusts administered by successor fiduciaries." Borissoff, supra, 341. [Emphasis added].

Smith v. Cimmet, 199 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1381, 132 Cal.Rptr.3d 276 (2011) in addressing that Oregon law may not allow a successor representative to sue a prior attorney held California law controlled and would allow such a suit.

The Florida Court of Appeals, First District, in *Bookman v. Davidson*, 136 So.3d 1276, 39 Fla. L. Weekly D932 (2014) as to a successor personal representative suing for legal malpractice stated:

This case presents a question of first impression in Florida, that being whether a successor personal representative of an estate may bring a cause of action for legal malpractice against an attorney hired by her or his predecessor to provide services necessary to the administration of the estate.

Bookman, supra, 1279. The Court of Appeals overturned the trial court's summary judgment of dismissal based primarily on a Florida Statute that gives the successor personal representative the same power and duty as the original personal representative. *Id* at 1279.

The Illinois Court of Appeals in *Estate of Hudson ex rel. Caruso v. Tibble*, 99 N.E.3d 105, 421 Ill.Dec. 105, 2018 IL App (1<sup>st</sup>) 162469 (Ill.App. 1 Dist. 2018) overturned a grant of summary judgment of dismissal wherein the trial court held that the estate could not maintain a cause of action for legal malpractice as the defendant attorneys were hired by and represented the former administrator of the estate and were not counsel for the successor personal representative. *Id* at ¶1. In this case, addressing both *Bookman* and *Borissoff*, the appellate court held that the summary judgment of dismissal should be overturned as standing was not contested below. *Id* at ¶29-30.

3. The Overwhelming Numerosity of Probate Proceedings As
Opposed to Guardianship Proceedings Augers in Favor of a
Trask Carve-Out as it Relates to Negligent Probate
Attorneys.

As argued above, infra V(B)(1), there is no reasoned difference why guardianship attorneys could be liable to their ward for negligence

and negligent personal representative attorneys shielded from liability to successor personal representatives. This issue is even more compelling when one compares the frequency of probate filings versus guardianship filings. Attached hereto as Appendix B is the Civil Department Statistical Report for the King County Superior Court. This reflects in King County calendar year 2017 of probate filings of 6,418 versus 949 guardianship filings in the same period. In other words, probate filings are almost seven times greater than those of guardianships in King County. The statistics show similar weightings for probate versus guardianship for the previous two years of 2015 and 2016.

To follow the trial court's and Division I's adherence to *Trask* in derogation to *Treadwell* and *Karan* presents a hugely statistical safe harbor for negligent probate attorneys to escape liability while not insulating their sister and brother attorneys in guardianship proceedings. It is the successor personal representative's view that this shows, among other reasons, the compelling nature of this Court's need to address this inequality and injustice.

4. <u>The Court of Appeals Was Mistaken That Successor Personal Representative Had Other Remedies.</u>

The Court of Appeals held:

Benjamin also argues that denying him standing insulates negligent attorneys from liability. The Supreme Court rejected this policy argument in <u>Trask</u>. The estate and its beneficiaries have a legal remedy. '[T]he personal representative owes the beneficiaries of an estate a fiduciary duty to act in the estate's best interest. If the personal representative's conduct falls below this standard, the estate beneficiaries may bring a cause of action against he personal representative for breach of fiduciary duty.' <u>Trask</u>, 123 Wn.2d at 843. Those harmed by a personal representative's mismanagement of an estate do not lack legal redress.

Court of Appeals unpublished decision, January 28, 2019, p.6.

Bearing in mind that this matter arose under CR 12(b)(6), that is mistaken as the Complaint states unequivocally "Judgment Debtor Leonardo Monk is under criminal investigation and the judgment entered against him is uncollectable and the burden of proof to prove collectability is an affirmative defense for the defendants herein." Plaintiff's Complaint, p.5, ¶2.15 (CP 5).

5. <u>Lawyer Conduct Falls Exclusively Under the Control of this Court. This Court Should Exercise that Control to Protect the Public; Not as Here to Insulate Negligent Probate Attorneys from Liability.</u>

In light of the superior court's decision relative to standing and the Court of Appeals upholding that decision based on *Trask*, it is solely and exclusively within the province of this Court to correct that injustice. *See e.g.*, Preamble and Scope to the Rules of Professional Conduct [12] and The Law of Lawyering in Washington, Andrews, Aronson, Fucile, and

Lackman, WSBA CLE, Chapter 3, An Introduction to the Rules of Professional Conduct: Their Purpose and Limits, 3-9 through 3-13.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

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