FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/3/2019 2:02 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96874-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANDREW LEE BENJAMIN, as Successor Administrator of the Estate of Lue Alice Green,

Appellant,

v.

DALYNNE SINGLETON and JOHN DOE SINGLETON, her husband, and the marital community comprised thereof, and LAW OFFICE OF B. CRAIG GOURLEY, PLLC, a Washington Professional Limited Liability Company, d/b/a GOURLEY LAW GROUP,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Rodney L. Umberger, Jr., WSBA # 24948 Daniel J. Velloth, WSBA #44379 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101-2380

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

IV. ARGUMENT

The trial court followed Washington Supreme Court precedent to the pled facts taken as true and correctly dismissed the claims. The appellate court affirmed this reasoned decision. The law is clear that the Petitioner was not Singleton's client, nor that Singleton owed him any duty as he is not an intended beneficiary of the attorney-client relationship. Because Washington, as a matter of policy and allocation of duties, disallows malpractice claims by non-clients on these alleged facts, the petition should be denied.

D. The Court Should Uphold and Affirm Settled Law

1. <u>Petitioner Does Not (And Cannot) Dispute That The Lower Courts Applied *Trask* Correctly.</u>

Petitioner engages in no analysis of the applicable standard to find whether a non-client was an intended beneficiary of the attorney-client relationship. The lower courts did, following the road map this Court plainly laid out. After careful consideration of existing views and tests in other jurisdictions on attorney malpractice claims, this Court spoke on the very same question of Petitioner's standing in *Trask*:

[W]e hold that a duty is not owed from an attorney hired by the personal representative of an estate to the estate or to the estate beneficiaries. The multifactor balancing test does not impose legal malpractice liability upon [the attorney] to [the successor personal representative] under these facts for three reasons: (1) the estate and its beneficiaries are incidental, not intended, beneficiaries of the attorneypersonal representative relationship; (2) the estate heirs may bring a direct cause of action against the personal representative for breach of fiduciary duty; and (3) the unresolvable conflict of interest an estate attorney encounters in deciding whether to represent the personal representative, the estate, or the estate heirs unduly burdens the legal profession.

Trask, 123 Wn.2d at 845 (emphasis in original). The facts here are remarkably similar to *Trask*. None of the subsequent cases cited, or not cited, by the Petitioner alters the central holding in *Trask*.

Because the inevitable conclusion of this analysis results in failure of Petitioner's claims, he simply ignores it. But this Court should not follow suit. This Court was clear in *Trask* when it allocated the liability for mismanagement of an estate to the single person who owes a duty to the estate and the beneficiaries – the personal representative. The duty, and therefore the liability, is expressly *not* allocated to the attorney for the personal representative.

2. The Duty Owed in Malpractice Actions

In malpractice claims, the threshold legal question is whether the defendant owed plaintiff a duty of care. *Linth v. Gay*, 190 Wn. App. 331, 337, 360 P.3d 844 (2015). The first element of a legal malpractice claim requires "[t]he existence of an attorney-client relationship which gives rise to a duty of care on the part of the attorney to the client..."

Id. at 336-337 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).² Generally a lack of an attorney-client relationship is fatal to finding a duty of care. *See id.* No attorney-client relationship between Singleton and the Petitioner exists. In a probate, the attorney owes a duty only to her client, the Administrator – not to the Estate, the beneficiaries and certainly not an ethereal successor administrator.

To prove either claim in the Petitioner's Complaint requires a duty flowing from Singleton to someone other than her client, Monk. Singleton was never an attorney for either the estate or the Successor Administrator.

3. <u>In Trask</u>, This Court Established the Factors Necessary to Find a Duty to a Non-Client Third Party, Expressly Not Adopting the Tests Used by California and Illinois.

Generally, only an attorney's client may bring a malpractice claim. *Linth*, 190 Wn. App. at 337. In Washington, pre-*Trask*, two tests were used to determine whether a duty to a non-client arose: (1) the California "multi-factor balancing" test and (2) the Illinois "third-party beneficiary" test. *Trask*, 123 Wn.2d at 840; *Stangland v. Brock*, 109 Wn.2d 675, 679-82, 747 P.2d 464 (1987). The *Trask* court examined the two tests and combined them to set forth the current test in Washington.

-8-

² The same holds true for a breach of fiduciary duty claim, the threshold question is whether a duty is owed. *Micro Enhancement Int'l, Inc. v. Coopers & Lybrand, LLP*, 110 Wn. App. 412, 433–34, 40 P.3d 1206 (2002).

The Washington Supreme Court's central tenet was to keep the analysis focused on the **purpose** for establishing the attorney-client relationship and who was the intended beneficiary of the attorney-client relationship. The threshold question the *Trask* Court answered was whether the malpractice plaintiff was "an *intended beneficiary* of the transaction to which the [attorney's] advice pertained?" If the answer is no, that is the end of the inquiry. 123 Wn.2d at 843 (emphasis added).

The reason for this is simple. Attorneys do not have a duty to the world at large, and therefore an attorney could have no duty to a non-client where the advice was not intended to benefit that person. Consequently, the non-client legal malpractice plaintiff had no standing to sue. *Leipham v. Adams*, 77 Wn. App. 827, 832, 894 P.2d 576 (1995). And this makes sense as a practical matter. Attorneys must put clients first, and forcing them to serve two (or more) masters—absent unique and compelling circumstances—does violence to the fiduciary relationship, almost by definition.

Thus, the **first and threshold inquiry in the** *Trask* **test** (a two part, six factor balancing test) **is whether there was an intent to benefit the malpractice plaintiff**. *Id*. (emphasis added). "While the answer to the threshold question does not totally resolve the issue, **no further inquiry need be made unless such an intent exists**." *Id*. (emphasis added). If a

court finds that a non-client was not an intended beneficiary, the court does not proceed beyond the first step.

In *Trask* the claim was brought – as here – by the successor personal representative. The *Trask* Court held that the only intended beneficiary in an attorney's representation of a personal representative *is* the personal representative—not the estate, estate beneficiaries, and certainly not the actual party who brought the claim, the successor personal representative. *See Trask*, 123 Wn.2d at 845. In this case, just like *Trask*, Singleton was hired to represent the Former Administrator, Monk. That was the sole attorney-client relationship. On these facts, the law is clear. Only Monk can bring a legal malpractice or breach of fiduciary duty claim against Singleton.

4. The Post-*Trask* Guardianship Cases Do Not Alter the Application of *Trask* to This Case

This is not a guardianship case. It is undisputed Singleton was never hired to establish a guardianship. Through the lens of *Trask* it is clear why (1) the guardianship cases found the ward an intended beneficiary, and (2) why those cases do not apply to the present situation. Neither involve similar facts to this case. Both involve legally incompetent wards, a non-adversarial relationship, and legal services consisting solely

of setting up the guardianships for the benefit of the incompetent ward.³

In *Karan*, the court held that the attorney of the guardian owed a duty to the minor ward. 110 Wn. App. at 86. Specifically, in *Karan*, an attorney had been hired by the mother of a minor to create a guardianship. *Id.* The mother depleted the funds while serving as the guardian. *Id.* The court applied the *Trask* test and determined the minor, although not the attorney's direct client, was an intended beneficiary of the guardianship because the *sole purpose* of the attorney's engagement was preservation of the ward's property through creation of a guardianship. *Id.* at 85. Thus, the attorney-client relationship between the attorney and the minor's mother was *intended to benefit* the minor. *Id.*

Similarly, in *Treadwell*, the court held that the attorney for the guardian owed a duty to the ward, an incompetent adult. *Estate of Treadwell ex rel. Neil v. Wright*, 115 Wash. App. 238, 247, 61 P.3d 1214, 1218 (2003). In *Treadwell*, the guardian depleted the accounts of the incapacitated ward. *Id.* at 241. The court followed *Karan*, making note

_

³ Notably, the personal representative and guardianship statutes differ substantially, which supports the court's articulation of a different scope of representation by the attorney. *See e.g.*, RCW 11.28.185 ("In all other cases, **unless waived** by the court, the personal representative **shall** give such bond or other security, in such amount and with such surety or sureties, as the court may direct"); RCW 11.88.100 ("Before letters of guardianship are issued, each guardian or limited guardian **shall** take and subscribe an oath and, unless dispensed with by order of the court as provided in RCW 11.88.105 [providing funds held subject to order of the court may reduce the bond], file a bond, with sureties to be approved by the court, payable to the state, in such sum as the court may fix").

that the *intended beneficiary* of the guardianship was the incompetent adult.

There is no question that Singleton was never hired to set up a guardianship. Singleton was solely hired by Monk to represent him and assist him in discharging *his* fiduciary duties. The Petitioner's reference to guardianship cases ignores the key policy considerations different between a probate and a guardianship – the lack of an adversarial relationship and the intent of the representation.

Understanding this fatal flaw, the Petitioner attempts to end run around the analysis and assert that since he is a *successor* administrator he "stands in the shoes of the predecessor personal administrator". Petition, at p. 10. This argument leapfrogs *Trask* to claim a direct relationship.

Accordingly the Court of Appeals rightly rejected it below.

First, the plaintiff in *Trask* was also the successor administrator, and this Court found he lacked standing. Second, Singleton was not hired to represent some fictional "office of the personal administrator" but the <u>individual</u>, Monk the intended beneficiary, to whom she owes an undivided duty of loyalty. Third, this argument amounts to a recast of the repeatedly rejected privity argument.⁴ At bottom, he is not the intended

-12-

⁴ Petitioner's CR 17(a) argument similarly fails – because the analysis dictated by this Court is not tethered to who is <u>currently</u> the real party in interest, but to whom the attorney client relationship was intended to benefit.

beneficiary of Singleton's legal services. This Court should decline the invitation to expand an attorney's duty to unintended parties or parties with adversarial interests.

E. Washington's Case Law is In Accord With Other Jurisdictions

Petitioner claims the majority of other states addressing the standing of successor personal representatives for legal malpractice actions disagree with Washington. This is incorrect. Of the six states that have addressed this particular issue, three follow *Trask*, and three do not.⁵

More importantly, this Court examined the tests in two of those three states – Illinois and California – <u>before</u> deciding *Trask*. In short, Petitioner's reliance amounts to an attempt to overturn Washington statute and established precedent by importing foreign common law standards largely already considered by this Court, and applying distinguishable statutory schemes around the country.

1. Out of State Cases that Apply A Different Legal Standard Should be Disregarded

Estate of Hudson By Caruso v. Tibble is unhelpful to Petitioner because (1) Illinois applies the third party beneficiary test, which this

-13-

⁵ Compare Estate of Hudson By Caruso v. Tibble, 99 N.E.3d 105 (Ill. App. Ct. 2018); Smith v. Cimmet, 199 Cal.App.4th 1381, 132 Cal.Rptr.3d 276 (2011); Borissoff v. Taylor & Faust, 33 Cal.4th 523, 93 P.3d 337, 15 Cal.Rptr.3d 735 (2004); with Trask, 123 Wn.2d at 838; Estate of Cabatit v. Canders, 105 A.3d 439, 440 (Me. 2014); Roberts v. Fearey, 162 Or. App. 546, 548, 986 P.2d 690, 691 (1999); cf. Allen v. Stoker, 138 Idaho 265, 266, 61 P.3d 622, 623 (Idaho Ct. App. 2002); In re Estate of Drwenski, 83 P.3d 457, 459 (Wyo. 2004).

Court reviewed and declined to adopt in *Trask*; (2) it applied Illinois case law, distinct from the law in Washington, and (3) as Petitioner must admit the central issue of standing was not properly raised or considered.⁶

Applying the third party beneficiary test (expressly rejected here) the court found that *Illinois* case law recognizes the proposition that an attorney owes a duty to the estate when hired by the estate's personal representative for purposes of administering a decedent's estate. *Id*. Critically, *Hudson*, never addresses the issue here – *i.e.*, plaintiff's standing – because it was never raised below. It is not helpful.

2. Out of State Cases that Apply a Different Statutory Scheme Are Unhelpful to This Court

Each of the California and Florida cases rely on and interpret a different statutory scheme than Washington. First, in *Borissoff v. Taylor* & *Faust*, 33 Cal.4th 523, 93 P.3d 337 (2004), the court relied entirely on California Probate Code:

[T]he successor personal representative has the **powers** and duties in respect to the continued administration that the former personal representative would have had.

-14-

⁶ In *Estate of Hudson*, Alma Leticia Hudson (Letty), was the former administrator of the estate, who faced claims by other heirs she dissipated estate funds. *Id.* at 108. Ultimately, the successor administrator and Kyle brought a malpractice lawsuit against Letty's counsel. *Id.* But the issue of standing was never raised. On appeal, the court acknowledged that in order to find that defendants owed a duty to the estate, an attorney-client relationship must have existed between them or the estate must have been an intended beneficiary of such a relationship. *Id.* at 112. However, the court noted that neither party raised that argument previously, and because of this, the court focused on whether a duty was owed. *See id.*

California Probate Code § 8524 (c). Relying on the statutory text, the court concluded that the probate code "gives the successor fiduciaries the same **powers** and **duties** their predecessors possessed, including the power to sue for malpractice harming the trust." Borissoff v. Taylor & Faust, 33 Cal.4th at 535 (emphasis added).

There are significant factual differences to the case at bar. In *Borissoff*, the special administrator⁷ hired attorneys for the limited purpose of tax advice – explicitly for the benefit of the estate. *Borissoff*, 33 Cal.4th at 527. There was no general counseling relationship between the tax attorney and the special administrator. By contrast, Monk hired Singleton in his capacity as administrator to give him general legal advice and counsel to guide him as administrator. The attorney-client relationship was intended to benefit Monk alone.

Smith v. Cimmet, 199 Cal.App.4th 1381, 132 Cal.Rptr.3d 276 (2011), relies on the same language in the California Probate Code and the Borissoff case discussed supra. There the court reasoned that a successor personal representative could file a claim against the predecessor's attorneys because "the absence of privity, viewed as an impediment to standing, is a gap the Legislature has filled in California." Id. (citing

⁷ A special administrator is a personal representative with limited powers under California law which include retaining tax counsel for the estate. Cal. Prob. Code §§ 58, 8544, 10801.

Borissoff v. Taylor & Faust, 33 Cal.4th 523. (emphasis added)). No similar provision exists in the applicable Washington statutes.

Similarly, *Bookman v. Davidson*, 136 So. 3d 1276 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2014)⁸ relied solely on the Florida Probate Code:

A successor personal representative has the **same power** and duty as the original personal representative....

Florida Statute § 733.614 (emphasis added). The court emphasized that the **powers** granted to the original personal representative flow to the successor personal representative; the court focused on the word "power" stressing it "is informed by the plain meaning of the language of the relevant statutes in the Florida Probate Code." *Id.*, 136 So.3d at 1279.

Though our legislature is presumptively aware of existing case law, it has made no similar grant. Apart from the fact that *Trask* controls in Washington, the Washington Probate Code is markedly different and provides, in part, that:

[t]he successor personal representative shall **perform like duties and incur like liabilities** as the preceding personal representative, unless the decedent provided otherwise in a duly probated will or unless the court orders otherwise. A succeeding personal representative may petition for

-

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